SCA EFiled: Nov 27 2024

10:31AM EST

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA TO THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

#### GAULEY RIVER PUBLIC SERVICE DISTRICT,

Petitioner,

v.

#### PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent.

From the Public Service Commission of West Virginia Case No. 22-0456-PWD-DU

#### PETITIONER GAULEY RIVER PUBLIC SERVICE DISTRICT'S BRIEF

# GAULEY RIVER PUBLIC SERVICE DISTRICT,

By Counsel,

James V. Kelsh (WVSB #6617)
Peter G. Markham (WVSB #9396)
Natalie E. Thomas (WVSB # 11744)
Bowles Rice LLP
600 Quarrier Street
Charleston, WV 25301
Telephone: 304-347-1100

jkelsh@bowlesrice.com pmarkham@bowlerice.com

#### I. INTRODUCTION

This appeal is about the Respondent Public Service Commission of West Virginia ("PSC") exceeding its statutory jurisdiction and powers under the *Distressed and Failing Utilities Improvement Act* (the "*Distressed Utilities Act*"), W. Va. Code § 24-2H-1, *et seq*.

Petitioner Gauley River Public Service District ("Gauley River")—a water only public utility—appeals the PSC's Commission Order of October 31, 2024 (the "Halloween Order"). GR-Appx. at pp. 1-32. The PSC issued the Halloween Order under §§ 24-2H-7(a) and -7(b) of the *Distressed Utilities Act*. It compels Gauley River to enter into an Operation & Maintenance Agreement (the "PSC Ordered O&M Agreement") with West Virginia-American Water Company ("WVAWC"). *Id*. at pp. 8-28. The PSC Ordered O&M Agreement would strip Gauley River of the power to operate and manage its water facilities, properties, and employees, and would transfer operation, management, and control of these assets and employees to WVAWC for a term of ten years.

The PSC Ordered O&M Agreement will not improve Gauley River. Rather, it will eradicate Gauley River by giving WVAWC unlimited control of Gauley River's assets and employees. WVAWC's assumption of control will, for all practical purposes, kill Gauley River as an independent, standalone entity.

The PSC Ordered O&M Agreement is unlawful because the PSC has not determined that Gauley River is a "failing utility" that may be subject to an ordered acquisition. W. Va. Code § 24-2H-7(a) (requiring "failing utility" determination as predicate to ordering acquisition by most suitable capable proximate water utility).

The PSC instead has determined that Gauley River is a "distressed utility." GR-Appx. at pp. 224-238, Commission Order (Aug. 25, 2023) (the "Distressed Utility Order"). Assuming *arguendo* that this finding is proper, the *Distressed Utilities Act* authorizes the PSC to consider, as an alternative to an ordered acquisition, "[o]peration of the distressed utility by another public utility or management or service company." W. Va. Code § 24-2H-7(b)(2). This alternative, however, is circumscribed by an important statutory requirement; that is: The resulting operation and maintenance agreement must be "a mutually agreed arm's length contract." *Id*.

Gauley River and WVAWC did not mutually agree to the terms of the PSC Ordered O&M Agreement in an arm's length negotiation. The PSC Ordered O&M Agreement is a contract of adhesion that the PSC foisted on these utilities. Its express terms effectuate a *de facto* ordered acquisition of Gauley River's assets and employees, without the statutorily required determination by the PSC that Gauley River is a "failing utility." Additionally, the *de facto* ordered acquisition is not supported by the evidence; does not advance the policy goals of the *Distressed* 

*Utilities Act*; and has not been recommended to or considered by the Fayette County Commission.

The *de facto* ordered acquisition compelled by the Halloween Order exceeds the PSC's statutory jurisdiction and powers. Therefore, this Court should set aside and annul the Halloween Order and grant the additional relief requested in the Conclusion section of this brief, pursuant to W. Va. R. App. P. 14.

#### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Did the PSC exceed its statutory jurisdiction and powers in stripping Gauley River of the authority to operate and manage *its* water utility facilities, properties, and employees, and in empowering WVAWC to exercise complete control over these assets and employees for a term of ten years, where:

- The PSC has not determined that Gauley River is a "failing utility" that may be subject to an ordered acquisition, as required by § 24-2H-7(a) of the *Distressed Utilities Act*;
- Gauley River and WVAWC did not mutually agree at arm's length to the terms of the PSC Ordered O&M Agreement, as required by § 24-2H-7(b)(2) of the *Distressed Utilities Act*; and
- The PSC Ordered O&M Agreement is not supported by the evidence; does not advance the policy goals of the *Distressed Utilities Act*; and has not been recommended to and considered by the Fayette County Commission?

The answer is "Yes" on each point, and each point provides an independent basis requiring this Court to set aside and annul the PSC's Halloween Order compelling the PSC Ordered O&M Agreement.

#### III. STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction to review final orders of the PSC. W. Va. Code § 24-5-1; *see also* W. Va. R. App. P. 14. As this Court has recognized, the Legislature's use of the term "final order" in § 24-5-1 of the *Public Service Commission Act* is "meant to cover all such orders as change the position of the parties, as take from one and give to the other something that [it] was not entitled to and could not receive before." *City of Charleston v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 83 W. Va. 718, 99 S.E. 63, 64 (1919) ("If we do not give the statute this construction, then the Public Service Commission may . . . put its actions in most cases beyond the review of this court for such a period of time as would make the relief of little value when it was finally obtained."); *see also* W. Va. Code § 24-5-1 (formerly § 16 of the *Public Service Commission Act*, Chapter 9 W. Va. Acts 1913, as referenced in the *City of Charleston* decision).

The Halloween Order that Gauley River appeals is a final order because it changes the position of the parties markedly. In particular, the PSC Ordered O&M Agreement that is compelled in the Halloween Order would strip Gauley River of the power to operate and manage its water facilities, properties, and employees, and would transfer the operation, management, and control of these assets and employees to WVAWC. As the *City of Charleston* decision notes, the Legislature

intended § 24-5-1 "to provide a quick . . . remedy for correcting the arbitrary and unwarranted orders of the [PSC]." *City of Charleston*, 99 S.E. at 65.

Further, the *Distressed Utilities Act* does not foreclose this appeal. Its unique provisions recognize that the PSC's Distressed Utility Order (GR-Appx. at pp. 224-238) is a "final order," but that the PSC has the discretion to make a subsequent order under § 24-2H-7(b) to consider and implement alternatives to an ordered acquisition. W. Va. Code §§ 24-2H-7(a), -7(b). The Halloween Order that Gauley River appeals is the "final order" tagalong. *Id*.

#### IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews final orders of the PSC to determine "(1) whether the [PSC] exceeded its statutory jurisdiction and powers; (2) whether there is adequate evidence to support the [PSC's] findings; and (3) whether the substantive result of the [PSC's] order is proper." Syl. Pt. 1, *Mason Co. Pub. Serv. Dist. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of W. Va.*, 247 W. Va. 580, 885 S.E.2d 161 (2022); *see also Trulargo, LLC v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of W. Va.*, 242 W. Va. 482, 484-85, 836 S.E.2d 449, 451-52 (2019).

Where the evidence "plainly establishes" that an order of the PSC is "arbitrary in law, unreasonable or not supported by the evidence, or clearly unjust," this Court has jurisdiction to "set aside and annul" the order. *Western Maryland Ry. Co. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of W. Va.*, 144 W. Va. 110, 114, 106 S.E.2d 923, 926 (1959); *see also* 

City of Wheeling v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of W. Va., 199 W. Va. 252, 263, 483 S.E.2d 835, 846 (1997) (recognizing PSC's "clearly wrong orders . . . will be reversed.").

#### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Pertinent Facts & Procedural History

Gauley River is a water only public service district that serves approximately 1,243 customers. It utilizes over 90 miles of water distribution mains located in Fayette, Nicholas, and Clay Counties, West Virginia.<sup>1</sup>

Gauley River does not own a water treatment plant. Instead, it purchases water from the Kanawha Falls Public Service District ("Kanawha Falls") and the City of Summersville ("Summersville"). The water Gauley River purchases from Kanawha Falls fills the tanks that serve the Mt. Olive Correctional Complex ("Mt. Olive") in Fayette County.<sup>2</sup>

Kanawha Falls experienced difficulties providing Gauley River with a continuous supply of water to fulfill its customers' needs. Frequently Kanawha Falls

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> GR-Appx. at p. 68, Pre-filed Direct Testimony of Anthony B. Brown, *In re: Gauley River Pub. Serv. Dist.*, Case No. 22-0456-PWD-DU, Pub. Serv. Comm'n of W. Va. (Mar. 10, 2023) (stipulated into evidence per Joint Stipulation and Agreement for Settlement, GR-Appx. at pp. 205-207).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Hearing Transcript, *In Re: Gauley River Pub. Serv. Dist.*, Case No. 22-0456-PWD-DU, Pub. Serv. Comm'n of W. Va. (June 1, 2023) at pp. 42:17-43:9.

personnel would call Gauley River's water operators and request Gauley River to refrain from taking water.<sup>3</sup>

Water service to Mt. Olive was interrupted several times in the three-months between December 2021 and February 2022. The interruptions occasioned the PSC's initiation of two proceedings under the *Distressed Utilities Act*, one involving Gauley River and the other involving Kanawha Falls.<sup>4</sup>

At the time of the interruptions of service, the master meter purchased and installed by Kanawha Falls—which was intended to measure the water Kanawha Falls was sending to Gauley River—was not providing reliable measurements.<sup>5</sup> Gauley River, however, was aware that water shortages were occurring at Mt. Olive, as the telemetry system that measures the tanks that serve the correctional complex

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> GR-Appx. at p. 43, Pre-filed Direct Testimony of Ralph Arthur, *In re: Gauley River Pub. Serv. District*, Case No. 22-0456-PWD-DU, Pub. Serv. Comm'n of W. Va. (Mar. 10, 2023); *see also* Prefiled Rebuttal Testimony of Jonathan M. Fowler, P.E., *In re: Gauley River Pub. Serv. District*, Case No. 22-0456-PWD-DU, Pub. Serv. Comm'n of W. Va. (Mar. 24, 2023) at pp. 4:10-14 and 5:6-9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Hearing Transcript, *In Re: Gauley River Pub. Serv. Dist.* at p. 50:9-16. The separate PSC Distressed Utility proceeding concerning Kanawha Falls is *In re: Kanawha Falls Pub. Serv. Dist.*, Case No. 22-0631-PWD-DU, Pub. Serv. Comm'n of W. Va. On October 31, 2024, the PSC issued an order in the *Kanawha Falls* proceeding in which it similarly directed Kanawha Falls to enter into an ordered, comprehensive operations and maintenance agreement with WVAWC. The *Kanawha Falls* proceeding was not consolidated with the *Gauley River* proceeding. The underlying facts and records in the two proceedings differ substantially.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> GR-Appx. at pp. 44-45; Hearing Transcript, *In Re: Gauley River Pub. Serv. Dist.* at p. 14:16-24.

notified Gauley River that the water levels in the tanks were low.<sup>6</sup> Gauley River asked Kanawha Falls to provide it with more water, but due to the inaccurate master meter it is unclear to what extent Kanawha Falls provided water.<sup>7</sup> Gauley River personnel looked for leaks on the Gauley River system while the water shortages were occurring. They did not discover any major leaks.<sup>8</sup>

PSC Staff issued a report on the shortages. Significantly, *PSC Staff did not identify any act or omission by Gauley River that contributed to the interruptions of water service at Mt. Olive.*<sup>9</sup>

For two years and nine months now—since February 2022—Gauley River has provided uninterrupted and ample water service to Mt. Olive.<sup>10</sup>

Gauley River does not believe it took any actions or omitted taking any actions that led to the water service outages at Mt. Olive. To reiterate, Gauley River checked for leaks in its water facilities immediately following the interruptions of water service at Mt. Olive. Gauley River did not need to perform any major leak repairs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> GR-Appx. at p. 43.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> *Id.* at pp. 43-45.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> *Id.* at pp. 43-44.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> GR-Appx. at pp. 167-168, Pre-filed Rebuttal Testimony of Ralph Arthur, *In re: Gauley River Pub. Serv. District*, Case No. 22-0456-PWD-DU, Pub. Serv. Comm'n of W. Va. (Mar. 24, 2023).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> GR-Appx. at p. 44.

Had leakage on Gauley River's system been the cause of the service interruptions at Mt. Olive, it would have come to light.<sup>11</sup>

Gauley River attributes the increased reliability of service to Mt. Olive to Kanawha Falls' installation of several new or replacement pumps at its water treatment plant. This occurred in April of 2022.<sup>12</sup>

In the last 14 years, Gauley River has had no formal quality of service complaints filed against it at the PSC.<sup>13</sup> It receives very few informal complaints from its customers.<sup>14</sup> From March 1, 2022, to March 10, 2023, Gauley River issued only four boil water advisories.<sup>15</sup> These related to distinct portions of its system due to leaks and other repairable conditions.<sup>16</sup> Gauley River receives good compliance scores from the Health Department.<sup>17</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> *Id*. at p. 45.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> *Id*. at pp. 46-47.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Hearing Transcript, *In Re: Gauley River Pub. Serv. Dist.* at p. 60:17-20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> By comparison, the PSC deemed the Armstrong Public Service District a failed utility, in significant part, because it had all of its customers under a boil water advisory for 102 days over a three-year period, and then placed them under a permanent boil water advisory. Comm'n Or., *In re: Armstrong Pub. Serv. Dist.*, Case No. 22-0911-PWD-DU, Pub. Serv. Comm'n of W. Va. (Aug. 25, 2023) at p. 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> GR-Appx. at p. 47.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Hearing Transcript, *In Re: Gauley River* at p. 30:13-23.

The PSC Staff witness from the PSC's Utilities Division testified that the financial performance of Gauley River did not warrant a finding that it was a distressed utility.<sup>18</sup> The PSC Staff witness from the PSC's Engineering Division submitted pre-filed written direct testimony in advance of the evidentiary hearing recommending that Kanawha Falls and Gauley River be acquired or operated by a more capable, larger water utility. <sup>19</sup> However, based on meetings and field visits that the PSC Staff engineer conducted in the period between the date he filed his written testimony and the date of hearing, the PSC Staff engineer noted at the hearing numerous improvements that Gauley River had undertaken.<sup>20</sup> Based upon these improvements that PSC Staff observed, PSC Staff (from the Engineering, Utilities, and Legal Divisions of the PSC) changed its initial recommendation on the "distressed utility" issue.<sup>21</sup> Specifically, PSC Staff joined in a Joint Stipulation and Agreement for Settlement of all parties that includes a recommendation that the PSC

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Prefiled Direct Testimony of Roger L. Estep, *In re: Gauley River Pub. Serv. District*, Case No. 22-0456-PWD-DU, Pub. Serv. Comm'n of W. Va. (Mar. 10, 2023) at p. 6:14-15 ("From a financial perspective, the Utilities Division does not believe [Gauley River] to be a distressed or failing utility at this time.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Prefiled Direct Testimony of Jonathan M. Fowler, P.E., *In re: Gauley River Pub. Serv. Dist.*, Case No. 22-0456-PWD-DU, Pub. Serv. Comm'n of W. Va. (Mar. 10, 2023) at p. 4:2-3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Hearing Transcript, *In Re: Gauley River Pub. Serv. Dist.* at pp. 11:21-13:6; 13:23-15:17; 17:14-19:6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> GR-Appx. at pp. 202-216, Joint Stipulation and Agreement for Settlement; *see also* Hearing Transcript, *In Re: Gauley River Pub. Serv. Dist.* at pp. 19:7-33:10.

make no finding as to whether Gauley River is a distressed utility. The Joint Stipulation also seeks to resolve the proceeding by requiring Gauley River to undertake a corrective action plan ("CAP").<sup>22</sup> At the close of evidence in the evidentiary proceeding, no party believed or recommended that the PSC should determine that Gauley River is a distressed utility.

The record also reflects that Gauley River had retained an engineer to develop a project enabling it to bring a redundant source of water from Summersville to feed the tanks that serve Mt. Olive. This occurred before the interruptions of service.<sup>23</sup> PSC Staff testified that if the PSC had promptly approved the Joint Stipulation and CAP, the redundant source project could be complete by March 31, 2024.<sup>24</sup> That project has stalled due to doubt about Gauley River's future, as a result of the PSC's determination that it is a distressed utility.<sup>25</sup> Ironically, this proceeding—which was initiated over concerns about the adequacy of the water supply to Mt. Olive—is now impeding improvements to the reliability of the water supply to Mt. Olive.

<sup>22</sup> Hearing Transcript, *In Re: Gauley River Pub. Serv. Dist.* at pp. 19:7-16; 32:9-33:4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> *Id.* at pp. 61:22-62:5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> *Id.* at pp. 24:19-25:2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> GR-Appx. at pp. 261-268.

Gauley River communicates with Mt. Olive frequently regarding its water service.<sup>26</sup> Gauley River and PSC Staff met with the Division of Corrections and Rehabilitation ("DOC") following the PSC's June 1, 2023, evidentiary hearing in the underlying *Distressed Utilities Act* proceeding.<sup>27</sup> At that meeting, DOC officials expressed support for the Joint Stipulation and Agreement for Settlement.<sup>28</sup>

Despite the forgoing, the PSC entered the Distressed Utility Order on August 25, 2023, determining that Gauley River is a distressed utility.<sup>29</sup> This determination was contrary to the recommendation of all parties to the proceeding as of the date of hearing. All parties signed the Joint Stipulation urging the Commission to make no finding on the distressed utility issue.<sup>30</sup>

In the Distressed Utility Order, the PSC stated that it "has concerns regarding Gauley River's ability to develop and implement the CAP, particularly because Gauley River had a duty to perform items in the CAP prior to the Joint Stipulation and failed to do so."<sup>31</sup> The PSC therefore modified the Joint Stipulation by replacing the recommendation that no finding be made on the distressed utility issue with the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Hearing Transcript, *In Re: Gauley River Pub. Serv. Dist.* at pp. 54:19-55:4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> GR-Appx. at pp. 217-222.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> *Id.* at pp. 220-221.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> GR-Appx. at pp. 224-238.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> *Id.* at pp. 206-207.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> *Id.* at p. 228.

very significant additional requirement directing Gauley River and WVAWC to "negotiate a mutually agreed arm's length operations and maintenance agreement."<sup>32</sup> Not one party to the Joint Stipulation had recommended that outcome.

In determining that Gauley River is a distressed utility, the first factor the PSC identified in the Distressed Utility Order was Gauley River's lack of a general manager.<sup>33</sup> The PSC cited to the initial recommendation of the PSC's Engineering Division in its pre-filed written direct testimony, which incorporated a Final Joint Staff Memorandum, but made no mention of the improvements in Gauley River's operations which were noted by the same engineer at the evidentiary hearing.<sup>34</sup> Gauley River has since hired a general manager in its ongoing efforts to improve operations.

On November 17, 2023, Gauley River and WVAWC filed with the PSC an operations and maintenance agreement that they had negotiated at arm's length (the "Arm's Length O&M Agreement").<sup>35</sup>

On March 15, 2024, the PSC issued a Commission Order (the "Ides of March Order") denying approval of the Arm's Length O&M Agreement and directing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> *Id*. at p. 235.

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