IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGO HAPPEALS Transaction ID 75456235

Gauley River Public Service District, *Petitioner*,

v.

The Public Service Commission of West Virginia *Respondent*.

STATEMENT OF RESPONDENT PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF WEST VIRGINIA OF ITS REASONS FOR THE ENTRY OF ITS ORDER OF OCTOBER 31, 2024 IN CASE NO. 22-0456-PWD-DU

Jessica L. Carter, Esq. (WVSB #10441)
Jessica M. Lane, Esq. (WVSB #7040)
PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF WEST VIRGINIA
201 Brooks Street
Charleston, WV 25301
(304) 340-0300 - main
(304) 340-0840 - facsimile
jcarter@psc.state.wv.us
jlane@psc.state.wv.us
Counsel for Public Service Commission of West Virginia

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

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Through its general investigation in 2022, the Commission learned that Gauley River had multiple serious deficiencies, including: 1) it had been operating for years without a general manager, instead relying on a governing Board that lacked water management expertise, 2) apart from the absence of a general manager, it had a long term failure to properly staff operations, and 3) it had, *for years*, failed to do routine tasks critical for a water utility to avoid service disruptions and other emergencies. To remedy the deficiencies, the Commission first utilized <u>W.Va. Code</u> §24-2H-7(b), and ordered Gauley River and WVAWC to negotiate an operation and maintenance agreement that would specifically address these deficiencies by giving control of Gauley River's operations to WVAWC. The Commission instructed Gauley River, *twice*, about this particular directive. The Commission also instructed Gauley River, *twice*, to provide disputed terms and alternative language, via testimony, if a complete negotiated agreement could not be reached.

Over the course of 14 months, the Parties failed/refused to provide a negotiated agreement with the specific terms or any testimony with alternative language, etc. And so, on October 31, 2024, with the Parties at an impasse, the Commission then utilized W.Va. Code §24-2H-7(b)(6) and entered the Ordered Agreement that would give WVAWC control over Gauley River's operation and maintenance, and also allow Gauley River to remain a separate legal entity that could continue, among other things, to seek and utilize funding for independent water utilities, keep its Board of Directors, and then return to independent operations upon termination of the agreement, if the Board chose to do so. The Ordered Agreement is a common operation and maintenance agreement utilized within West Virginia's water utility community. It is not "tantamount to an acquisition," as the Petitioner argues, but rather meticulously crafted to avoid acquisition of the distressed utility while allowing WVAWC (or any other capable proximate

utility) to operate, repair, and maintain the system (and correct and stabilize the deficiencies) without depleting its own resources or placing itself in financial peril.

While the Petitioner's secondary argument rests on the provision of W.Va. Code §24-2H-7(b)(2) that authorizes the Commission to order a "mutually agreed arms-length" operational agreement, Petitioner's own failure to provide such an agreement (or any alternative terms for the Commission to consider) is what ultimately resulted in the Commission having to next rely upon W.Va. Code §24-2H-7(b)(6), which authorizes the Commission to consider "[a]ny viable alternative other" than an ordered acquisition by a capable proximate utility, which is exactly what the Commission did when the Parties were at an impasse. Gauley River ignores the statutory authority of the Commission to consider viable alternatives other than a mutually agreed armslength agreement, but the Legislature granted the Commission broad power to require remedies that are workable and that will actually address the deficiencies of a distressed utility, by not limiting the Commission to remedies that require every entity's approval prior to implementation.

The Petitioner's appeal should be denied and this Court should uphold the October 31, 2024 Order of the Commission.

III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

The Court has scheduled oral argument for March 18, 2025.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The authority for review of a Final Order of the Public Service Commission by the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia is set forth in <u>W.Va. Code</u> §24-5-1. In reviewing a Commission Order, this Court is guided by the established holdings in <u>Sexton v. Public Service Commission</u>, 188 W. Va. 305, 423 S.E.2d 914 (1992) and <u>Monongahela Power Company v. Public Service Commission</u>, 166 W.Va. 423, 276 S.E.2d 179 (1981).

As an initial matter, in Syllabus Point 1 of <u>Sexton</u>, this Court held:

[A]n order of the public service commission based upon its findings of facts will not be disturbed unless such finding is contrary to the evidence, or is without evidence to support it, or is arbitrary, or results from a misapplication of legal principles.

Syl. Pt. 1, <u>Sexton v. Public Service Commission</u>, 188 W. Va. 305, 423 S.E.2d 914 (1992) (Citations and quotation marks omitted).

In <u>Monongahela Power Company</u>, this Court established a three-pronged analysis for review of a Commission order:

[i]n reviewing a Public Service Commission order, we will first determine whether the Commission's order, viewed in light of the relevant facts and of the Commission's broad regulatory duties, abused or exceeded its authority. We will examine the manner in which the Commission has employed the methods of regulation which it has itself selected, and must decide whether each of the order's essential elements is supported by substantial evidence. Finally, we will determine whether the order may reasonably be expected to maintain financial integrity, attract necessary capital, and fairly compensate investors for the risks they have assumed, and yet provide appropriate protection to the relevant public interests, both existing and foreseeable.

Syl. Pt. 2, <u>Monongahela Power Company</u>, 166 W.Va. 423, 276 S.E.2d 179 (1981) (in relevant part). Furthermore, the Monongahela Power Company Court explained:

[t]he Court's responsibility is not to supplant the Commission's balance of these interests with one more nearly to its liking, but instead to assure itself that the Commission has given reasoned consideration to each of the pertinent factors.

<u>Id</u>. (in relevant part).

This Court summarized its three-pronged analysis in Monongahela Power Company in Central West Virginia Refuse, Inc. v. Public Service Commission, 190 W.Va. 416, 438 S.E.2d 596 (1993) as follows:

The detailed standard for our review of an order of the Public Service Commission contained in Syllabus Point 2 of Monongahela

Power Co. v. Public Service Commission, 166 W.Va. 423, 276 S.E.2d 179 (1981) may be summarized as follows: (1) whether the Commission exceeded its statutory jurisdiction and powers; (2) whether there is adequate evidence to support the Commission's findings; and (3) whether the substantive result of the Commission's order is proper.

Syl. Pt. 1, <u>Central West Virginia Refuse</u>, <u>Inc. v. Public Service Commission</u>, 190 W.Va. 416, 438
S.E.2d 596 (1993). *See also* Syl. Pt. 1, <u>Mason Cty. Pub. Serv. Dist. v. PSC of W. Va.</u>, 247 W. Va. 580, 885 S.E.2d 161 (2022).

In <u>Central West Virginia Refuse</u>, the Court recognized that in <u>St. Joseph Stock Yards Co. v. United States</u>, 298 U.S. 38, 56 S. Ct. 720, 80 L. Ed. 1033 (1936), the United States Supreme Court held that rate-making authority is a legislative function. In exercising "its rate-making authority, the legislature has a broad discretion. It may exercise that authority directly, or through the agency it creates or appoints to act for that purpose in accordance with appropriate standards." <u>Central West Virginia Refuse</u>, Inc. v. Public Service Commission, 190 W.Va. 416, 420; 438 S.E.2d 596, 600-601 (1993). The Court also stated, "in deference to the Commission's expertise . . . this Court will not substitute our judgment for that of the Commission on controverted evidence." <u>Id.</u> at 190 W.Va. at 421; 438, S.E.2d at 601.

Similarly, in <u>C & P Telephone Company v. Public Service Commission</u>, 171 W.Va. 494, 300 S.E.2d 607 (1982), this Court reiterates the three-pronged standard of review established in the <u>Monongahela Power case</u>, *supra*, and went on to hold generally that:

The Court's responsibility is not to supplant the Commission's balance of interests with one more nearly to its liking, but instead to assure itself that the Commission has given reasoned consideration to each of the pertinent factors."

<u>Id.</u> at 611. The <u>C&P</u> case also affirmed the Supreme Court of Appeal's prior holding "that this Court will not substitute our judgment for that of the Commission on controverted evidence." <u>Id.</u> at 611.

In <u>W.Va. Citizens Action Group v. Public Service Commission</u>, the Court recognized the broad legislative power of the Commission to address the interests of each party, citing the Commission's broad authority found in <u>W.Va. Code</u> § 24-1-1(a) in addition to the Commission's responsibility under <u>W.Va. Code</u> § 24-1-1(b). <u>W.Va. Citizens Action Group v. Public Service</u> Commission, 233 W.Va. 327; 758 S.E. 2d 254 (2014).

V. ARGUMENT

A. An Operation and Maintenance Agreement Requiring Operational Control of a Distressed Utility is a Statutorily Authorized Remedy Under <u>W.Va. Code</u> §24-2H-7(b)(2) and W.Va. Code §24-2H-7(b)(6).

Once it found Gauley River to be a distressed utility, the Commission, as authorized under <u>W.Va. Code</u> §24-2H-7(b)(1)-(6), then had the following remedial measures available to it: (1) reorganization of the utility under a new board with approval of the relevant local government, (2) operation of the distressed utility by another entity under a mutually agreed arms-length transaction, (3) appointment of a receiver under <u>W.Va. Code</u> §24-2-7(b), (4) merger with another utility subject to local government approval, (5) acquisition by a third-party utility or (6) another viable alternative. Thus, "operation of the distressed utility by another entity under a mutually agreed arms-length transaction" is one available remedy and "another viable alternative" is another available remedy.

In this case, the Commission first utilized <u>W.Va. Code</u> §24-2H-7(b)(2), "operation of the utility by another entity" and on August 25, 2023, ordered the Parties to negotiate an armslength operation and maintenance agreement that would allow WVAWC to have operational control. August 25, 2023, Commission Order at p. 12, CR at BN 489. Gauley River responded by filing a proposed operation and maintenance agreement that did not meet the Commission's directive, and instead "[left] Gauley River entirely in control and responsible for the ongoing

operations and maintenance of the water system." March 15, 2024, Commission Order at p. 2, CR at BN 449.

In its March 15, 2024 Order, the Commission succinctly described its dissatisfaction with the proposed operation and maintenance agreement, stating:

The August 25, 2023 Order was clear, and it is important to note that there is no inconsistency in requiring the Parties to include certain terms and conditions and also giving the Parties flexibility to create a mutually agreeable contract...

The Order also made it clear that if a mutually agreeable contract could not be worked out between the Parties, they each had an opportunity to submit a draft containing language that each party individually believed was reasonable. Nothing in this Order indicated that should the Parties fail to reach an agreement, the Commission would approve of an agreement that eliminated or modified the required terms and conditions ceding management and operational control to WVAWC.

March 15, 2024, Commission Order at pp. 2-3, CR at BN 449-450. The Commission once again specifically directed the Parties to negotiate an agreement that included terms providing that WVAWC have operational control, and further explained to the Parties what to do if negotiations were unsuccessful:

If WVAWC [and Gauley River] are unsuccessful in their negotiations, WVAWC must make a filing no later than April 12, 2024 that provides the terms that have been agreed upon, the terms WVAWC proposed but which were not agreed to, and include either an affidavit or testimony in support of WVAWC's terms that Gauley River did not agree upon. Gauley River and any other party shall respond within ten days of such filing. Gauley River's response must include testimony explaining why it disagrees with the proposed term(s), along with alternative language for those terms, tracked in its proposed agreement. If such competing proposals are filed, the Commission will formulate specific language for those areas still in disagreement, and require that formulated language be incorporated into the Parties' agreement.

Id. at p. 3, CR at BN 450.

The Commission is authorized to review, modify, approve or decline to approve interutility contracts under the authority of <u>W.Va. Code</u> §24-2-12. Thus, while this agreement stemmed from the designation of a distressed utility, the Commission's authority to review and determine approval of that contract is the same as it is for any other agreement that falls under <u>W.Va. Code</u> §24-2-12, and includes the Commission's overall responsibility to balance the interests of the ratepayers, the utility and the state economy, per <u>W.Va. Code</u> §24-1-1(b).

On March 22, 2024, WVAWC filed a short letter to the Commission indicating that no agreement could be reached between the Parties. See Correspondence from WVAWC dated March 22, 2024, CR at BN 446-447. Despite the Commission's previous directives and its repeated explanation of what should transpire if the Parties did not negotiate a mutually acceptable agreement with the required terms for WVAWC to have operational control, on March 25, 2024, Gauley River filed a Petition for Reconsideration. The Petition alleged vague concerns about funding qualifications if WVAWC were to take over operational control, but did not provide any concrete evidence supporting that claim. See, e.g., Petition to Reconsider, CR at BN 427-428. Gauley River's own witness, Board Chairman Ralph Arthur, had already testified that the utility would need to seek out and rely on outside help to perform the CAP that Gauley River had previously championed. Tr. at 59, CR at BN 669. There was no evidence or testimony submitted that supported Gauley River's allegations that it would lose funding if it entered into an operation and management agreement, nor had Gauley River explained how this type of assistance from WVAWC (via an operation and maintenance agreement) would differ, in terms of funding qualifications, from the "outside help" Gauley River admitted it would need. Once again Gauley River rejected its opportunity to negotiate an "arms-length" operation and maintenance agreement and its opportunity to explain why disagreed terms should be excluded and/or alternative terms should be implemented. After its Petition for Reconsideration, Gauley River filed nothing further.

On October 31, 2024, 14 months after its August 2023 Order, with the Parties failing to negotiate an arms-length agreement and also failing to provide the Commission with testimony regarding the disputed terms or any alternative language, the Commission then exercised its authority under W.Va. Code §24-2H-7(b)(6) to implement "another viable alternative" and ordered the Parties to enter into the Ordered Agreement. This change was necessary to prevent the requirement of an "arms-length transaction" from being weaponized by Gauley River to avoid the Commission's directives.

The Petitioner implies the Commission exceeded its authority by ordering it to enter into an operation and maintenance agreement with terms that were provided by the Commission. *See generally*, Petitioner's Brief at 26, CR at BN 33. This is simply untrue. Under W.Va. Code §24-2-12 the Commission is authorized to approve inter-utility contracts. Thus, the Commission was well within its authority to reject the Joint Stipulation (and attached CAP) and Gauley River's proposed operation and maintenance agreement. Furthermore, in City of South Charleston v. West Virginia PSC, this Court affirmed the Commission's authority to not only approve of - but also modify utility contracts:

As part of its review of a utility contract, the Commission may modify or void any clause in the contract that the Commission determines is adverse to public interest.

Id., 204 W. Va. 566, 571, 514 S.E.2d 622, 627 (1999). See also <u>City of Charleston v. Public</u> <u>Service Commission</u>, 57 F.3d 385 (4th Cir. 1995) (the Commission may alter rates that are set forth in a contract); <u>Preston County Light and Power Company v. Renick</u>, 145 W. Va. 115,

113 S.E.2d 378 (1960) (the Commission has the authority to supervise, regulate, modify or approve a contract between utilities).

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